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● (1505)

[English]

The Chair (Mr. Raj Saini (Kitchener Centre, Lib.)): Wel‐
come, members, to the seventh meeting of the Special Committee
on the Economic Relationship between Canada and the United
States. Pursuant to the motion adopted by the House on February
16, the special committee is meeting to discuss the economic rela‐
tionship between Canada and the United States.

Today we're moving forward in our work and will be starting our
examination of buy American procurement policies. To open this
topic for us, we are fortunate to have the Minister of Small Busi‐
ness, Export Promotion and International Trade here today.

In addition to the minister, we have from the Department of For‐
eign Affairs, Trade and Development, Steve Verheul, assistant
deputy minister, trade policy and negotiations; Arun Alexander, di‐
rector general, North America trade policy bureau; Doug Forsyth,
director general, market access; and Eric Walsh, director general,
North America strategy bureau. I thank the witnesses for agreeing
to spend this time with us to enlighten us on this very important
topic.

Minister, you have five minutes for your opening statement for
us. I want to thank you again for sharing your time with us and the
floor is yours.

Hon. Mary Ng (Minister of Small Business, Export Promo‐
tion and International Trade): Thank you so much.

Chair Saini, honourable members, thank you for the opportunity
to appear before the committee to speak about the long-standing,
unique and mutually beneficial trade relationship between Canada
and the United States. As many of you know, back in February our
government held its first bilateral meeting with the Biden adminis‐
tration, where we launched the road map for a renewed U.S.-
Canada partnership, which lays out an ambitious plan for going for‐
ward together to address the pandemic and to build back better.

Just last week I had my first meeting with Ambassador Katherine
Tai, the newly confirmed U.S. trade representative. We discussed
our countries' close relationship and agreed on the importance of
keeping our integrated supply chains open and resilient.

[Translation]

Our ongoing engagement with the new administration offers us
the opportunity to strengthen our trade relationship.

[English]

This includes working together on implementation of the new
NAFTA and engaging constructively on trade issues, such as U.S.
tariffs on Canadian softwood lumber and solar products, and buy
American provisions.

Canada and the United States have a trading relationship like no
other two countries in the world. Every day, $2.7 billion worth of
goods and services cross our borders. Canada is the top destination
for U.S. exports and 32 states count Canada as their top customer.

Our cross-border trade is critical to workers, to businesses, and to
families and communities on both sides of the border, providing
stability and good jobs to Americans and Canadians alike. It is a
testament to our relationship that as of January 2021, Canadian ex‐
ports to the United States have surpassed their pre-pandemic levels.
That's a good sign for the economic recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic. Our integrated supply chain means that Canada is able to
easily export its cutting-edge products into markets in the United
States.

Let me give you an example. IPEX is an Ontario-based company
that is bringing its innovative, made-in-Canada environmental solu‐
tion to the U.S. infrastructure industry by recycling vinyl in its
products and making sustainable earthquake-resistant water main
pipes.

I can tell you unequivocally that Canada and the U.S. are com‐
mitted to growing our already close relationship—which is made
even easier with the new and modernized NAFTA—and supporting
both countries in a strong economic recovery from this pandemic.

I would also like to spend a little time on buy American and buy
America. The terms “buy American” and “buy America” are often
used interchangeably and mistakenly. Buy American requirements
mandate that all American federal government departments pur‐
chase only U.S. goods. The U.S. Trade Agreements Act of 1979
waives buy American requirements for countries that are party to
the WTO Agreement on Government Procurement and other U.S.
free trade agreements. As Canada is party to the GPA, buy Ameri‐
can requirements are waived for Canadian companies.
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Buy America requirements, on the other hand, are different. Buy
America requirements vary between the departments and agencies,
but in general they are applied to iron, steel and manufactured
goods used in infrastructure projects and in most cases require
100% U.S. content.

Here I understand the concerns of Canadian businesses that ex‐
port and trade with the United States, but let me be clear: We will
always stand up for Canadian businesses and workers, and we will
continue working as one team Canada to ensure stability and pros‐
perity for our industries. Also, as I mentioned earlier, I raised this
directly with both President Biden and the U.S. trade representa‐
tive, Ambassador Tai. We are committed to working together to re‐
inforce our deeply integrated production of goods and services and
mutually beneficial economic relationship, and to avoid negative
impacts on jobs or businesses.

With respect to softwood lumber, there is no doubt that it is an
important industry to the Canadian economy and to our trade rela‐
tionship with the United States. Let me begin by stating unequivo‐
cally that the duties imposed by the U.S. on Canadian softwood
lumber are unwarranted and unfair. They hurt workers and industry
on both sides of the border.
[Translation]

Canada continues to strongly believe that a negotiated agreement
with the U.S. is in both countries' best interests.
[English]

Again, I raised this directly with both President Biden and Am‐
bassador Tai, and I will continue to actively engage with key elect‐
ed officials on this issue. We're taking a team Canada approach,
working hand in hand with the softwood lumber industry and
provincial and territorial partners on all fronts to ensure Canada and
the United States can come to a conclusion on this matter.

Let me conclude by saying that our government is absolutely
committed to standing up for our workers and businesses and find‐
ing opportunities to strengthen our relationship with the United
States.
● (1510)

[Translation]

I look forward to working with my colleagues on all sides of the
House to ensure success in Canada-U.S. trade relations in the inter‐
est of all Canadians.
[English]

With that, Mr. Chair, I'm happy to take questions.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Minister, for your opening

comments.

We will go straight to questions.

For the first six minutes, to lead us off, we'll go to Mr. Lewis,
please.

Mr. Chris Lewis (Essex, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you very much, Minister. We certainly appreciate your
time. We all know that time is very precious, so thank you for that.

Minister, my riding is the riding of Essex. It's down by the busi‐
est international border in all of North America, next to Windsor. I
appreciate the fact that the government says it will always stand up
for Canadian workers and businesses, but, Minister, there's a major
issue here with regard to trade. The trade starts at the border. The
trade doesn't necessarily mean the trade of goods going back and
forth. The trade is actually the people who go with the goods.

Windsor-Essex is hemorrhaging business to the U.S. and to Mex‐
ico, specifically in the manufacturing sector but also in our small
business sector. What's happening, Minister, is very simple. Law-
abiding, legal visa holders who go back and forth across the border
are being told to quarantine for 14 days or face very hefty fines,
along with their employees and their customers who come and liter‐
ally spend two hours on a shop floor right here in my backyard to
approve a product. I have met with so many advanced manufactur‐
ers. We really need to deem our business owners, our employees
and our customers an essential service, just like the Province of On‐
tario already has.

Have you, Minister, had any discussions with either the Minister
of Public Safety Bill Blair or your U.S. counterparts to begin to re‐
solve this problem?

Hon. Mary Ng: Having spent quite some time in your neck of
the woods, I understand how important the trade relationship is be‐
tween Canada and the U.S., particularly from the vantage point of
where you are. It really is very much about people. It's about those
businesses, and it's about how they are able to work together.

We are in a global pandemic. We have, throughout this period of
a year, been able to keep the borders open in, I believe, a very suc‐
cessful way. We have groceries on our shelves. We have medical
supplies and critical goods and equipment crossing both borders. In
that respect, I believe this long border is and continues to be a suc‐
cess.

We do acknowledge it is the effort of all of us, Canada and the
U.S., and certainly here in a whole-of-government approach, my
colleagues Minister Blair and the health minister, to work together
to make sure that we are truly maintaining that balance. What is
that balance? That balance is keeping Canadians healthy and safe
and—

Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you, Minister. I'm sorry. I don't have
very much time.

We have groceries on shelves, thank goodness. What we don't
have is new contracts coming to Canada. We are losing these new
contracts because we can't get the customers over here for two
hours.

Minister, e-petition 3297 was tabled with the Clerk. It is now up
on the House of Commons website for signatures as of last Mon‐
day. Are you aware of this e-petition? Basically, it calls for this: to
deem business owners, their employees and their customers an es‐
sential service, just as the Province of Ontario has.
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● (1515)

Hon. Mary Ng: I'm looking forward to taking a look at that peti‐
tion, now that you have raised it with me. I would say our top prior‐
ity is to fight this pandemic and keep Canadians safe. Essential ser‐
vices and goods are moving across the border. We are absolutely
balancing that—the commerce between the two countries—and
keeping Canadians safe.

There is a light at the end of the tunnel with vaccines, for sure,
and as I said earlier, our trade numbers have resumed to pre-pan‐
demic levels between Canada and the United States. We are going
to keep doing this, but we must keep Canadians safe from
COVID-19. We have introduced a lot of—

Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you, Minister. I appreciate that.

Mr. Chair, how much time do I have left, please?
The Chair: You have about a minute.
Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you very much.

I'm sorry to cut you off, Minister. I truly apologize, but it's not
often that I get an opportunity to speak to a minister.

So, Minister, I guess I am asking this: Will you commit to bring‐
ing this issue forward to Minister Blair, as well as to your U.S. col‐
leagues? All they're asking for, and what I know is absolutely vital
to our economic recovery, is to give clear and concise direction to
the CBSA and to PHAC to deem these workers essential, just like
our truck drivers. It's the exact same thing.

Literally, there is great food on the grocery shelves, Minister, but
it's not hitting the tables of Canadians, because people are losing
their jobs. Would you commit to this, please?

Hon. Mary Ng: I commit to working as hard as I can to make
sure we fight COVID-19 and continue to do what we need to do to
keep Canadians safe. We are going to do that. We are going to help
small businesses get through this, to bridge them to the other side
of COVID-19. The health of Canadians and the economy and the
economic recovery are absolutely connected.

That is our commitment as a government. We are keeping Cana‐
dians safe, supporting businesses—all businesses, including small
businesses—helping our businesses continue to export and continue
to find opportunities and customers in the international marketplace
like the U.S. All that work continues. All of this is in an effort to
get us on that road to recovery, one that is stronger because Canadi‐
ans are healthy and safe.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Lewis.

We will now go to Mr. Housefather for six minutes, please.
Mr. Anthony Housefather (Mount Royal, Lib.): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

Minister Ng, it's a pleasure to see you. Thank you for the extraor‐
dinary work that you and your parliamentary secretary have been
doing on this file.

I will share some time with Ms. Bendayan.

I wanted to give you the opportunity to clarify for Canadians ex‐
actly what we're talking about here. As you said in your opening
statement, there's the 1933 Buy American Act; there's the 1983 buy

America act, and then there's President Biden's recent executive or‐
der. Then, there are all the different places Canada is exempt from
“buy American”, whether through the GPA or the USMCA.

Could you talk to the committee and to Canadians about exactly
what the biggest concern is about the President's recent executive
order that would change things under either “buy American” or
“buy America”, and how you are working with your colleagues to
handle that?

Hon. Mary Ng: I want to thank the honourable member. It's very
good to see you. It's too bad I'm not able to see you and everyone in
person, but I hope that will come soon enough.

As I said in my opening remarks, “buy American” refers to an
act that the American administration enacted, and because Canada
is a party to the WTO's GPA—the government procurement provi‐
sions—we are exempt from “buy American”.

“Buy America” may apply to greater American content, and it is
here that I have, for sure, heard from Canadian and American busi‐
nesses and workers on both sides of the border, because they under‐
stand the value of open procurement markets. In fact, any restric‐
tions on that will actually have a negative impact.

Our supply chains are so integrated and we work so closely to‐
gether. In fact, we build together and we innovate together. I just
want to assure the committee that if there is any expansion into
greater content requirements, we are going to actively work on that
to defend and to ensure that there is no impact on our critical sup‐
ply chains and Canadian businesses and Canadian workers.

● (1520)

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thank you so much, Minister.

I just have one more question before I turn it over to Ms. Ben‐
dayan.

I know you've been working closely with employers groups and
unions on both sides of the border in order to ensure that Canada's
perspective is heard loudly and clearly in Washington and in the
different states applying the executive order.

Can you talk about the collegiality of that relationship and how
that's working out?

Hon. Mary Ng: Absolutely.

I think that everyone here will have experienced the strong team
Canada approach that we have taken for the last five years. Today
is no different. I think that we need to continue this very strong ap‐
proach around team Canada, working with interlocutors with the
USTR, but also with other legislators in the U.S.
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Our ambassador is working hard at this, as are my cabinet col‐
leagues. I would invite all of you to also work together with us so
that we can advocate with this strong team Canada approach, en‐
gaging U.S. stakeholders, decision-makers at all levels of govern‐
ment, the workers and civil society.

We'll demonstrate our value. The integration of how close we are
and how close our economies are, these are the stories that I am
able to share. This is the case that I get to make and that we all get
to make to our interlocutors in the U.S. but also to Canadian busi‐
nesses and American businesses that operate in Canada.

We want to be sure that we are keeping these integrated supply
chains and these relationships open in such a way, because it is not
only beneficial to Canada—of course it is—but it also serves as a
benefit to American workers and American businesses as well.

We are both committed, both countries, to building back better,
to this road map between Canada and the U.S., and we have ambi‐
tions to also tackle climate change together. There's a lot of great
Canadian input into the American infrastructure industry.

These are the opportunities, and I would encourage a strong, con‐
tinued, team Canada approach in this advocacy.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thanks so much.

Rachel, I pass it over to you.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan (Outremont, Lib.): Thank you.

Just picking up, Minister, on that advocacy, I had the opportunity
to speak to many members of the Canadian American Business
Council, as well as others. There does seem to be real organization
on the ground, just as there was when we were negotiating the new
NAFTA, to ensure that our American friends and counterparts un‐
derstand the importance of this for both our countries.

In light of the fact that, just yesterday, President Biden made an
announcement regarding the $2-trillion infrastructure plan that he is
looking to roll out, I wondered if you could perhaps speak to Cana‐
dians and to this committee about the importance of moving for‐
ward, but also that we do have some time to get this done.

It is my understanding that there is no bill currently on the floor.
Also if we look back to recent history, in 2010, the last time we
were able, as a country, to gain an exemption from buy America,
that was done after the bill was introduced in a separate agreement.

Perhaps you can give us a little bit of context regarding the strat‐
egy going forward.

Hon. Mary Ng: Let me start by saying that our government will
always stand up for our Canadian workers and our businesses.

If there is an effort to expand or to introduce new domestic con‐
tent requirements, of course we will absolutely work to ensure that
this is not applied to Canada or affect Canadian supply chains.
Whether it be the Prime Minister, the Deputy Prime Minister or me,
through our interactions with the President, the vice-president and
the USTR, we emphasize that workers in the U.S. and Canada ben‐
efit from our integrated, secure and resilient supply chain and that
strengthening this trade relationship is really important to avoid any
unintended consequences that may arise from any buy America
policy.

However, I would say that we have a lot in common. Building
back better and building back the green economy are really impor‐
tant. I would be remiss if I didn't talk about how green our steel
production is. We are a global leader. Canadian aluminum produc‐
ers have the lowest carbon footprint in the world and are innovat‐
ing. Our transportation sector and the inputs into transportation or
forestry, concrete and cement are all inputs that are made together
between Canada and the U.S., and they go into those supply chains.

We fully will be making the case that working together, building
together, will help us tackle climate change, and it will help us
build back better in a way that creates jobs for the middle class in
America and in Canada.

● (1525)

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Bendayan.

[Translation]

Mr. Savard-Tremblay, you have six minutes.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay (Saint-Hyacinthe—
Bagot, BQ): Good afternoon and thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon to my colleagues.

I'd like to thank you, Madam Minister, for being with us today.

I'd like to make a connection or parallel with what we could also
do here. So I'm going to take you somewhere else.

You talked about the Buy American Act and Buy America provi‐
sions. In the U.S., there's also the Small Business Act, which allows
between 23% and 40% of American public purchasing to be re‐
served for domestic SMEs, or American SMEs, of course.

To counter this type of measure, couldn't the government adopt a
similar policy here?

Hon. Mary Ng: Thank you very much for that question, dear
colleague.

[English]

It's always great to see you again.

The work that we do [Technical difficulty—Editor] for sure....
For me, as the minister responsible for small business and interna‐
tional trade, simply put, I help businesses start up, scale up and ac‐
cess new markets every single day. I put in the entire tools of not
only the federal government but our work with partners to create
more opportunities for Canadian businesses.
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I'm very pleased that in our newly negotiated NAFTA there are
provisions that actually have a chapter, which we're excited to work
on, particularly for small and medium-sized businesses. Remember,
99% of our businesses are SMEs here. Only 12% export today, so
you can see the opportunities to export. In the new relationship with
the U.S., Canada and Mexico, there is a dedicated chapter for small
and medium-sized businesses that provides us access to this market,
and we've done that with all of the progressive agreements that
we've negotiated as a government.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Of course. This type of
agreement is often defined by the supply of shares in partner coun‐
tries' government procurement. In the specific case of

Hon. Mary Ng: I'm waiting for the interpretation.
[English]

Can someone just check the translation, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: We're okay.

[Translation]
Hon. Mary Ng: Thank you.
The Chair: I stopped the clock, Mr. Savard-Tremblay. You still

have four minutes left.
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: In that case, I can start

my question over again.

It goes without saying that we often have privileged access to
government procurement and government contracts from partner
countries, when there are trade agreements, of course. In this case,
the fact remains that the Small Business Act also exists.

I'll come back to my question. In the Canadian context, couldn't
we use this model to adopt a similar law or order to give priority to
Canadian and Quebec SMEs?
[English]

Hon. Mary Ng: Thank you.

At present, the Minister of Public Services and Procurement and
I work together in a whole-of-government approach. There's a
function here that is doing a lot of work to provide greater opportu‐
nities for our small and medium-sized businesses to have access to
the business we offer, I suppose, as government, but in addition to
that I, of course, lead both the Black entrepreneurship strategy, as
well as the women's entrepreneurship strategy. This is about being
able to also, again, create more opportunities and build that infras‐
tructure in those ecosystems to help our Canadian businesses get a
leg up to pursue opportunities and to be successful in those oppor‐
tunities.

For me, as the trade minister, I have what I call the “trade tool
kit”, a trade tool kit that puts EDC, BDC, the trade commissioner
service, Invest in Canada and the Canadian Commercial Corpora‐
tion together in a way such that I focus our energies to help our
small and medium-sized businesses get access to those businesses,
not the least of which is the trade accelerator program that we've
put together, which has helped literally many businesses to grow
and to grow into those export markets. That work is a top commit‐
ment of mine. I've been doing that from day one as the Minister of

Small Business to help them get access and to get the capacity and
to build.

In fact, right now, I'm on a virtual trade mission to France. I have
300 companies in France doing work, building relationships and
business-to-business opportunities and finding investment attrac‐
tion. That's on top of some of the other virtual trade missions,
which I would love to talk more about, but I feel that I should let
you ask the next question.

● (1530)

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you, Madam Min‐
ister.

Are the provinces and Quebec being consulted in the develop‐
ment of your strategy to deal with the challenge of American pro‐
tectionism?

The U.S. is the main partner in many cases, especially in Que‐
bec. Has Quebec been included in the thinking around a possible
strategy?

Hon. Mary Ng: Absolutely.

[English]

We work as team Canada. Team Canada must include our
provincial and territorial partners, businesses and workers.

When we think about Quebec, who cannot think about the alu‐
minum producers? The lowest carbon footprint in the world and the
world's first carbon-free aluminum smelting technology is being
commercialized in Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean in a joint venture be‐
tween the U.S.-based Alcoa and Rio Tinto. If adopted, this technol‐
ogy could reduce annual carbon emissions by approximately seven
million tonnes, which is equivalent to removing 1.8 million Canadi‐
an autos from the road. This is the kind of innovation here in
Canada—in Quebec certainly. There is also the use of decarbonized
cement made by a company out of Nova Scotia, CarbonCure, in
building Amazon's headquarters in the U.S. There are a lot of syn‐
ergies that way.

That said, absolutely, we must work with our colleagues, the
provinces and territories, and industry as well.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savard-Tremblay.

[English]

Mr. Cannings, welcome to the committee. It's good to see you.

You have six minutes, sir.

Mr. Richard Cannings (South Okanagan—West Kootenay,
NDP): Thank you.

[Technical difficulty—Editor] it doesn't seem very long ago that
you were before us at the natural resources committee, where we
talked a lot about softwood lumber, so I won't go down that road.
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I represent the riding of South Okanagan—West Kootenay, a
border riding, where I have five border crossings in my riding and a
couple just outside, on the very edges, so cross-border trade is
hugely important. As Mrs. Romanado reminded me in the chatter
before we started the meeting, “You have wine”. It is a huge part of
the economy here. We grow the best grapes and make the best wine
in Canada. Wine is, I think, a $6-billion industry in the country, but
it has faced a number of international trade disputes over the past
few years, and one in particular resulted in Canada's saying that it
would get rid of the excise tax exemptions for most small Canadian
wineries by 2022. That is going to have a huge impact on many
small Canadian wineries, including most of the wineries in my rid‐
ing, for instance. Wine Growers Canada has asked that a trade legal
replacement for this exemption be introduced to support the indus‐
try, much like other countries around the world, including Australia
and the United States, support their industries.

Can you let us know if such a program will be included in the
upcoming budget?

Hon. Mary Ng: Thank you, Mr. Cannings. It's lovely to see you.

You're right. It feels like I've seen many colleagues at the differ‐
ent committees I've been to of late, but it's wonderful.

I've been to your riding, and it's wonderful out there. I think what
I will do is leave it to the Minister of Finance to share the budget
with all of you when she tables it. So, why don't I leave it there?

I can assure you that we absolutely recognize the tremendous
value of the wine industry and the contribution of that sector, which
is world-renowned, to our reputation as world-class agricultural
producers, particularly in wine, as I say. On this issue, I continue to
work very closely with the industry, and also with provinces [Tech‐
nical difficulty—Editor] so that we have the right mechanisms in
place to continue to support not only the viability, but also the op‐
portunities that continue for the Canadian wine industry, both do‐
mestically and in its exports abroad.
● (1535)

Mr. Richard Cannings: You mentioned the domestic part.
You're also the minister for small business, as I understand it. I'm
wondering if you could expand on any efforts your government has
been making to eliminate the interprovincial trade barriers for wine
and beer makers. This is perhaps an even bigger problem.

On that, my neighbouring MP, Dan Albas, has a private mem‐
ber's bill that would allow Canada Post to ship beer and wine be‐
tween provinces. I'm wondering what your government's thought is
on that bill.

Hon. Mary Ng: Around interprovincial trade, I know that my
colleagues, both Minister LeBlanc as well as Minister Champagne,
are working very actively on that. We understand the value of re‐
moving those barriers in the interests of our Canadian businesses
and, you're absolutely right, small businesses. As we do with virtu‐
ally all of our work, we are working whole-of-government so that
we are pointing our capabilities to the Canadian end of the business
that are the recipients of this. We are working very hard on the in‐
terprovincial movement of goods.

In the meantime, I continue to help our Canadian companies find
those markets and pursue greater export into the many markets that

are afforded by so many of the trade agreements we have today. It's
nice to be in the position, especially as I meet with my G7 col‐
leagues, to be the only one around the table who has an agreement
with all of them.

All of this is to say that we need to keep doing the work to help
them export and to create opportunities for them to also take advan‐
tage of the domestic market.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

I have time for just one quick question, Minister. I can't resist
getting back into forestry. I won't mention softwood lumber, but as
you know, from your previous life on [Technical difficulty—Editor]
I'm a big proponent of mass timber, engineered wood and these
products that can be shipped to the United States without the prob‐
lematic tariffs of softwood lumber. I'm wondering if you can com‐
ment on whether those products will be affected by any of the two
or three buy America programs we've heard about.

Hon. Mary Ng: Of course, we continue to work with the United
States on any provisions that might increase American content. In
that, as I said earlier, we will work to make sure that Canada isn't
affected, or our supply chains. I do think, around softwood lumber,
that lumber prices are high. That is causing harm to both workers
and the sector. I think we need to keep pushing hard and to work on
a negotiated settlement here.

I think both of us, both countries, are also committed to afford‐
able housing. It's in everyone's interest to ensure that affordable
housing is also increasingly more affordable to build as well. We
will need to keep working together with our American partners on
this front.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

The Chair: We will now start our second round.

Ms. Alleslev, you have five minutes, please.

Ms. Leona Alleslev (Aurora—Oak Ridges—Richmond Hill,
CPC): Thank you very much, Chair.

Thank you, Minister, for being here.

Canadians are coming to me saying that they're quite concerned
that perhaps we're not taking this shift in the American position se‐
riously enough. It looks like the Americans have been very clear on
the direction they're taking. President Biden signed the executive
order, right when he came in, around buy America. The road map
that was just outlined focused on modernizing trade rules, including
those related to procurement, to ensure that countries could use
their own taxpayer dollars to spur domestic investment.
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All the signalling is around domestic manufacturing capability in
the U.S. and self-sufficiency, starting with these large infrastructure
projects. Now we hear that an additional $2.3 trillion will be spent
on infrastructure, going way beyond roads and bridges to invest‐
ments in manufacturing and the expansion of broadband.

Can you give us a comprehensive list of all of the infrastructure
elements that Canada cannot bid on as a result of this executive buy
America order?
● (1540)

Hon. Mary Ng: Let me begin by saying that I take this with ab‐
solute seriousness and priority, ensuring that my officials and I are
working at this with absolute diligence. As I said, our government
is—

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Minister, do you have a list?
Hon. Mary Ng: I think I get a chance to respond in the same,

equitable time, Mr. Chair? Is that right?
Ms. Leona Alleslev: Not at committee, Minister.

Do you have a comprehensive list of the things that Canada can't
bid on?

Hon. Mary Ng: We're going to keep working with the Ameri‐
cans. The American administration has also said that it fully intends
to respect trade agreements and trade rules. If there is an effort to
expand or introduce new domestic content requirements, we will
absolutely work to ensure that those do not apply to Canada or af‐
fect Canadian supply chains. We're going to do this with the strong
team Canada approach that we have been taking. I would encour‐
age all of us here to work together. I think all of us are here to work
for our Canadian company workers—

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Minister, we haven't been successful in the
past, such as in preventing KXL from being cancelled and prevent‐
ing buy America from going into effect. Other witnesses, including
the ambassador, have said that were probably not going to be able
to change this legislation to make us exempt. Could you give us
some idea of why you think we will be able to prevent further mea‐
sures taken by the U.S. from affecting Canada?

Hon. Mary Ng: Let me start with your original premise about
the executive order on buy American. That does not apply to
Canada.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Buy America.
Hon. Mary Ng: On Buy America, as I said, if there are efforts to

expand or introduce new domestic content requirements, we will
absolutely work to make sure that these do not apply to Canada or
affect the Canadian supply chains.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: But, Minister, what will you do differently?
We haven't been successful in preventing them in the past, so what
can we do differently that will protect us in the future?

Hon. Mary Ng: I think I'm not going to take lessons from the
Conservatives, who asked us to capitulate in the negotiation of
NAFTA. I think what I'm going to do is work in a team Canada ap‐
proach, as we have done and demonstrated over the last five years,
to stand up for Canadian interests. We successfully had steel and
aluminum tariffs removed. We are working with the American ad‐
ministration. My colleagues and I at all levels are working, includ‐
ing the ambassador. We are going to work very hard to stand up for

Canadian interests, just as we have done the last five years. I will
be doing that today and every day going forward.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Thank you, Minister.

The Chair: We will now move to Mr. McKay for five minutes.

Hon. John McKay (Scarborough—Guildwood, Lib.): Thank
you.

Minister, you'll be pleased to know I have no CORE questions
for you today.

I don't know whether to direct this question to you or to Mr. Ver‐
heul, who is deeply involved in the negotiations of NAFTA 2.0.
What puzzles me in all of these buy America or buy American or
executive orders, etc., is that by and large the law provides that a
treaty prevails over everything. NAFTA 2.0 prevails in all matters
pertaining to trade. Therefore, I don't quite get what the president's
authority, or Congress' authority for that matter, is to override a
trade treaty.

Again, I don't know if the second, or really the flip, side of the
question should be directed to you or Mr. Verheul, but if the Prime
Minister did exactly the same thing as the President has done, and
issued an executive order, or if Parliament passed a buy Canada or
buy Canadian legislation, would that stand up in any kind of trade
dispute?

I'll leave it there and ask either one of you to respond.

Thank you.

● (1545)

Hon. Mary Ng: Thank you so much [Technical difficulty—Edi‐
tor]. I'm pleased to get questions from you, so here we go.

Hon. John McKay: Sometimes more than others.

Hon. Mary Ng: No, no—always. As colleagues, of course, it's
always about working towards solutions, so I'm totally okay with
all of that.

With respect to the question, I guess the way I would respond is
this. I had an opportunity, of course, to raise this issue with the new
U.S. trade representative, Ambassador Tai. The administration is
one that will be respectful of trade agreements, whether it is the
new CUSMA between the U.S., Mexico and Canada, but it also
will be a proponent for multilateral rules-based trade. I share that
because it would be our expectation that the U.S. will continue and
follow through with that.
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I think that what the work we are doing here in using a team
Canada approach really is about—at many levels and through many
interlocutors, including businesses and workers—is to demonstrate
and make the case about how integrated our supply chain is. In re‐
lying on the Canada-U.S. supply chain, whether it's infrastructure,
energy or rolling stock sectors, we really are able to make the case
on that road map to Canada in the U.S., because whether it's con‐
struction materials that are sourced from Canada and are typically
lower-carbon materials, or our energy and our electrical systems,
which are among the cleanest in the world, or Canadian manufac‐
turers that manufacture highly efficiently and generally emit less
carbon, and these Canada-U.S. supply chains are so integrated—

Hon. John McKay: I'm not disputing that the Canada-U.S. sup‐
ply chains are integrated and that we have terrific companies, etc.
What I would like to know is what is our legal position when, on
the face of it, the Government of the United States of America
breaches a recently negotiated treaty that Mr. Verheul and many of
his colleagues were intimately involved in. Whether it's President
Biden, who I like a great deal, as do many of us, as opposed to the
predecessor, I just don't understand how he gets to say what he gets
to say and that ends up being where we're at. I'd be curious as to
what our legal position is.

Hon. Mary Ng: Well, our position is that we are working with
the U.S. administration to ensure that as they are implementing any
provision there is no unintended consequence that will occur and
will affect the U.S.-Canada supply chain.

I know that you're going to have Steve here in the next session—
I think he's here for an hour and the officials are here for the next
hour—so I guess he could take the legal question now or he could
take the legal question in the next session. It's up to you.

The Chair: Unfortunately, he'll have to take it in the next ses‐
sion. We're out of time.

Hon. Mary Ng: Oh. All right. There you go.
[Translation]

The Chair: Mr. Savard-Tremblay, you have two and a half min‐
utes.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you.

Just yesterday, President Biden promoted the first part of his in‐
frastructure plan, the first part being $2 trillion of a total of $4 tril‐
lion over 10 years. The plan states that all contracts would go to
U.S. companies and benefit U.S. workers.

As part of this infrastructure plan, do you think there will be new
U.S. content requirements? If so, to which products would they ap‐
ply?
● (1550)

[English]
Hon. Mary Ng: The announcement was an announcement, so

I'm saying to my colleagues here, as well as to Canadians, that if
there is an effort to expand or introduce new domestic content re‐
quirements, we will absolutely work to ensure that they do not ap‐
ply to Canada or they don't affect Canadian supply chains. When
we're talking about American infrastructure, in many of the meet‐
ings we're having with American stakeholders, as well as Canadian
and American businesses, we make the point that whether it's a

waste-water project, for example, as happened last time.... A waste-
water project gets initiated in the U.S. There are water filters that
are made here in Canada, made by General Electric in Canada. De‐
lays were caused as a result of some of those content requirements,
or they were going to be spending a lot of money on transit. Many
American manufacturers are actually part of this supply chain in
Canada.

We're going to continue to share these many examples, because
it's American companies that are also talking to me and American
workers who are talking to us. I think the effectiveness of a team
Canada approach, and a strong one, will hold us well. We want to
be sure that it isn't affecting Canadian supply chains, because it also
can affect American workers and businesses as well. This is why I
think it's really important to make sure that we are sharing what
that integration is and to remind our American friends and col‐
leagues that Canada is also the top customer for 32 states. We want
to make sure that we are building back better in this relationship so
that it really benefits Canadian workers and Canadian businesses
that also [Technical difficulty—Editor] U.S. businesses as well.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savard-Tremblay.

[English]

We will now go to Mr. Cannings for two and a half minutes,
please.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

I have a company in my riding, Frankia Fertilizers, that develops
and export organic fertilizers to the United States. They obviously
have to compete with American companies there. They interact
with federal agencies on both sides of the border, and with state
agencies. One of the big stumbling blocks they face is the time it
takes to get a new product registered with both the CFIA and the
Canadian intellectual property office. The CFIA takes 465 working
days to respond, while the performance target for the Canadian in‐
tellectual property office for trademarks is 22-plus months. That
compares with just a few weeks or months for American regulators
that they deal with.

The people at Frankia Fertilizers are not objecting to these regu‐
lations around testing and registration. They simply feel that these
regulations should come with enough funding support so that their
applications can be dealt with in a reasonable time frame.

Can you commit to getting more resources to these Canadian
agencies so that Canadian companies aren't at such a disadvantage?
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Hon. Mary Ng: That's a really important question, particularly
for me. The core of my mandate is about helping Canadian busi‐
nesses grow domestically but also in exporting and making sure
that regulations and the alignment of such, and the speed of such,
support our businesses in that work. That trade facilitation is what
my department and I have been working very seriously on.

I'll give you an example. The recent CanExport funding that we
have put out is $75,000 worth of funding. We've changed it in the
course of this pandemic precisely to address what you just talked
about, which is some additional funding so that the companies will
get that to deal with any barriers that might have come up to trade
facilitation during the pandemic. It would also help them directly
with IP support as well. That's one example. It is something that we
are actively working on. We have to make sure that we are working
in this horizontal way to support our businesses.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cannings.

We'll now go to Mr. Strahl for five minutes, please.
● (1555)

Mr. Mark Strahl (Chilliwack—Hope, CPC): Thank you very
much, Mr. Chair.

In my neck of the woods here, Washington state is now offering
vaccines to 16-year-olds. We've heard cases of the United States ac‐
tually offering vaccines to zoo animals. We're still at people in their
seventies and eighties booking appointments well into the future.
We're into more lockdowns here now because, quite frankly, we're
so far behind the eight ball when it comes to vaccines.

I was very disappointed to hear that there was no plan to address
the border issue. I would argue we can't simply wait to catch up on
vaccines, then. We talk repeatedly about integrated supply chains,
but that includes more than just the groceries. As my friend Mr.
Lewis said, it includes people. It includes technicians, sales people,
managers. As we fall further and further behind on vaccines, we
lose more and more business to the U.S., which is able to operate
and open more rapidly than us.

I'll ask again what Mr. Lewis asked. Is there a plan? Are there
metrics in place? Are you in active negotiations to come up with a
way for us to stem the flow of jobs to the United States while we
catch up on vaccinations, on which we are so far behind the United
States right now?

Hon. Mary Ng: Let me start where you ended, with respect to
vaccines. I just want to assure you, and Canadians, that we are on
track to get 43 million vaccines by the end of June, and nothing is
more important to us than working urgently to have vaccines in the
arms of Canadians. Of course, I am working in a whole-of-govern‐
ment approach with my colleagues to be sure that the very careful
balance of fighting COVID-19 here is done, while at the same time,
working to support businesses on that road to recovery.

We've also taken some creative approaches to helping businesses
grow and get into the international markets, using opportunities like
virtual trade missions, literally around the world. We've done sever‐
al throughout this pandemic and businesses are benefiting—

Mr. Mark Strahl: Thank you, Minister. I have such a limited
time, and I was asking about the border.

I will go back. You keep talking about this team Canada ap‐
proach. Quite frankly, I think the approach this government has tak‐
en has failed us on Keystone XL, it's failed us on softwood lumber
and it's failing on Line 5. I'm just wondering why.

If we do the same things over and over again, I think we're living
in a fantasy land if we think [Technical difficulty—Editor] haven't
worked in the past, simply because there is a new administration in
Washington. This administration has been very clear, as Ms.
Alleslev said, about what its priorities are. When it made that
known to us previously on the Keystone XL pipeline, the Prime
Minister said that it was a campaign commitment the President
made and he's going to keep it.

He has also made a campaign commitment on buy America, so
what makes you think that we are going to be successful this time
around, when on Keystone XL, Line 5 and softwood lumber, the
government has failed to get the agreements and the results that
Canadians expect them to get on those files?

Hon. Mary Ng: Let me start with softwood lumber. We abso‐
lutely are going to stand up for Canadian businesses. We believe
that the way forward is a negotiated agreement. I raised this issue
with both the President as well as the new U.S. trade representative.

The cost of lumber is such that it is driving up housing prices,
and it's harming both the sector and its workers. I am keen to con‐
tinue this work with the new administration, and we'll press for a
negotiated agreement around softwood lumber.

Around buy America, as I said, if there are efforts to expand or
introduce new domestic content requirements, we will absolutely
work to ensure that they do not apply to Canada, and they do not
apply to and affect Canadian supply chains.

In my interaction, as well as that of our government, we have
agreed that we are going to work together to make sure that there
aren't unintended consequences to our supply chains. This is work
that continues. We have successfully worked in a team Canada ap‐
proach with many interlocutors from business to labour to govern‐
ment officials.

I do that work, along with my colleagues, but I would also invite
all of us, as parliamentarians, to take that team Canada approach.
Let's work together to make sure that we are advancing this impor‐
tant economic and bilateral relationship to the benefit of our busi‐
nesses and our people.

● (1600)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Strahl.
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For the final question, we go to Ms. Romanado for five minutes,
please.

Mrs. Sherry Romanado (Longueuil—Charles-LeMoyne,
Lib.): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Minister, for being here.

I just wanted to reflect on the last member of Parliament's ques‐
tion with respect to Line 5. We are on meeting number seven, and
the six previous meetings of this committee have been dedicated to
Line 5 and to studying it. In no way have we heard that this was not
a very active file. At every level we are engaging with our Ameri‐
can counterparts to prevent the closure of Line 5. I just wanted to
reiterate the position of Canada and the federal government in that
regard.

Minister, my riding of Longueuil—Charles-LeMoyne is approxi‐
mately 45 minutes from the Saint-Bernard-de-Lacolle border. In
fact, in 2015 the then mayor of Longueuil signed an agreement with
the mayor of Plattsburgh to increase collaboration with respect to
transport, which is a major industry in my riding, and aerospace.
Aerospace is a huge industry in my riding. In the agglomeration of
Longueuil, 80% of the businesses that export actually sell to the
United States. The agreement and relationship between Quebec and
the United States is incredibly intertwined. As you know, hydro‐
electricity is one of the main exports from Quebec to the United
States, especially along the eastern seaboard.

Given the road map for renewed U.S. partnerships, the discus‐
sions about zero-emission vehicles, and conversations about clean
electricity transmission, I wanted to give you an opportunity to re‐
flect on some of the opportunities you see going forward for
Canada and the United States in these areas of clean tech.

Hon. Mary Ng: You're absolutely right; Canada has made a
commitment to net zero by 2050, and signed on and made a com‐
mitment to achieving the Paris Agreement. Our commitment is a
shared one with the United States on tackling climate change. The
opportunities for Canada in building back better on this road map
between Canada and the U.S. are abundant, particularly in the area
of fighting climate change. You're absolutely right; we have the
cleanest energy and electric systems, many of them in Quebec.

Canadian manufacturers are highly efficient. I can point out a
few examples of what we are already doing in clean tech. There are
many, but one that comes to mind—I keep speaking about them,
only because I met them just the other day—is CarbonCure. This a
Canadian company that in building, in the use of cement, is decar‐
bonizing. It's a green input into construction projects in the U.S.,
but when you look at cars or buses or trains or trolleys or ferry
boats or vehicles, that's Canada's rolling stock. We have expertise
here around green transportation. We are an input into the Ameri‐
can transit system.

Look at a company like New Flyer and their electric buses.
They're building buses and parts in Alabama, Minnesota, New York
and Canada. Canada ranks number four around the lithium battery
supply chain. We have one of the lowest carbon footprints for this
battery production. The U.S. is making a commitment for an entire
infrastructure around e-vehicles.

So there are many inputs, from forestry to aluminum to steel to
construction to wood. These are the integration between Canada
and the U.S. We're already building together. We're innovating to‐
gether. There's the Canadian technology accelerator, for which we
have presence in Boston and San Francisco and New York. These
are opportunities where we are going to work together. We're going
to keep working together, because it's going to benefit Canadian
workers and Canadian businesses. It's going to benefit American
workers and American businesses. And guess what? We're going to
fight climate change together.

● (1605)

The Chair: Ms. Romanado, you have 20 seconds.

Mrs. Sherry Romanado: That's fine.

Thank you very much, Minister.

The Chair: That brings our first hour to a close.

Thank you so much, Minister Ng, for taking the time. I know
you're very busy, as we all are. Thank you very much for taking the
time and giving us your perspective on this very important issue
that's coming forward.

I understand that the officials will be here for the next hour. We
can go right into questions, as they don't have any opening state‐
ments.

We'll go to Mr. Hoback for six minutes, please.

Hon. Mary Ng: Goodbye, everybody. Thank you.

Mr. Randy Hoback (Prince Albert, CPC): Thank you, Minis‐
ter. It's great to see you here this afternoon.

Hon. Mary Ng: Goodbye, Randy.

Mr. Randy Hoback: I'll start off with Mr. Verheul. I think we're
following each other around; we've been meeting so much over the
last two months, whether it's trade committee or now this commit‐
tee. We should just maybe rent an apartment together or something,
I would say. I appreciate your being here again today with your col‐
leagues.

Mr. Verheul, the situation I'm really concerned about with buy
America is the unintended consequences of it, plus the other things
we're hearing. What I mean by that is we see a scenario where a
U.S. company makes the exact same widget as a Canadian compa‐
ny, but because it's American-based it gets to take advantage of buy
America and create a very healthy balance sheet. That same U.S.
company goes in and competes with the Canadian company in
Canada and around the world.

Is there anything in our trade agreements that allows us to say to
that company in the U.S., “No, you've been subsidized unfairly
through buy America, so you can't now dump products into
Canada”?
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Mr. Steve Verheul (Assistant Deputy Minister, Trade Policy
and Negotiations, Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and
Development): I'm sorry. I was offline for a second there. If you
could repeat the question, that would be great.

Mr. Randy Hoback: What I was basically saying, Mr. Verheul,
is that you see companies in the U.S. that take advantage of buy
America, and that props up their balance sheets to such a degree
that they're just so much stronger than a Canadian company that
makes the exact same widget.

Is there anything in our trade agreements that says, “You took
advantage of buy America; you were unfairly subsidized; you can't
just dump product into Canada or anywhere else around the
world”? Is there anything in our trade agreements or the WTO that
would prevent that?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Certainly, if the U.S. is using buy America
programs to produce products at non-competitive prices and trying
to provide those products in the Canadian market, we have recourse
for that.

Under the government procurement agreement we have at the
WTO, while we are exempted under buy American as I think you
have heard, the U.S. has carved out protection for buy America, so
there's no direct way we can [Technical difficulty—Editor].

Mr. Randy Hoback: Mr. Verheul, you had started to explain the
difference between buy American and buy America, and where
there are exemptions and carve-outs for the U.S.

I think you froze again. Did you hear me?
Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, I did.

With respect to buy American, we have an exemption under the
government procurement agreement at the WTO. With buy Ameri‐
ca the U.S. has never made any commitments at the government
procurement agreement to capture those kinds of programs, so it is
within its rights to use those programs.

Just to finish off here, in response to your question, Randy, if the
U.S. is using those projects to then produce products that would be
exported to Canada, we have recourse if those products are being
unfairly subsidized or dumped in our market.

Mr. Randy Hoback: It would be similar to a scenario where the
U.S. would be subsidizing not only the company but also the R and
D of that company, and giving it an unfair advantage versus com‐
petitors in Canada that wouldn't have that wallet in their back pock‐
et.
● (1610)

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes. When it comes to research and devel‐
opment, that's a bit more open. You can certainly spend on research
and development if it's not tied directly to a specific product. If it's
more general research and development, then there's no real restric‐
tion on that. It would depend on the extent to which the U.S. is ap‐
plying this directly to products that would be potentially exported
to Canada.

Mr. Randy Hoback: The last time we faced this type of sce‐
nario, we actually had an exemption with the federal part of it, but
we lost out on the state and municipal side.

Are we able to carve out anything there now, and has anything
we have today changed since the last time we faced buy America,
with Obama?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, I think the difference this time around
is that we've had a number of conversations with the Biden admin‐
istration since they came into office. There's an openness and a
willingness to discuss what kind of potential impact some of these
policies could have on Canada, and a willingness to try to ensure
that there's not the kind of negative implications we might have
seen in the past. I think that's an important consideration. We have
an open door for that kind of dialogue and that gives us the window
to make the arguments we need to make about how we're both far
better off if we maintain our integrated economy.

The Chair: Mr. Hoback, I will add one more minute to your
time because of the technical difficulties.

Mr. Randy Hoback: I appreciate that, Chair.

I guess it's fair to say, then, in the contracts that the U.S. govern‐
ment, the federal government, would have with the state level or
municipal level, it would be stipulated in those contracts then that,
wait a minute, Canada has to be exempted because it's federal dol‐
lars being utilized for that infrastructure project, even though it's
maybe being administered at the municipal level or the state level.
Is that fair to say?

Mr. Steve Verheul: That would be our argument, that if the U.S.
is going to provide those funds to state-level governments and low‐
er, in order to have the best kind of outcome, we should not have a
result where there are restrictions on Canadian input into those
projects. That's what we'd be looking at.

Strictly speaking, at least from a government procurement obli‐
gation point of view, there are no restrictions on those federal funds
that are handed down to states and municipalities in the U.S..

Mr. Randy Hoback: Thank you, Mr. Verheul.

The Chair: We'll go to Mr. Sarai for six minutes, please.

Mr. Randeep Sarai (Surrey Centre, Lib.): Thank you, Chair,
and thank you, witnesses.

I won't go into the legal aspects. I think many of my colleagues
have already asked what the legal ramifications are. Others have
asked how our conversations with the Americans have been going
and about the dialogue between two governments and two execu‐
tive branches.

Mr. Verheul, you can probably direct this to whomever. What is
the percentage of American companies that procure in Canada?
What's the GDP, or how much of Canadian procurement is Ameri‐
can?

Where I'm going, I'll lead you to that, too, so you can answer it in
one answer. If in fact our discussions of a friendly nature currently
being worked on with the U.S. do not coincide with a “buy North
America” attitude, or “buy Canadian and American”, what is the
percentage of goods being procured by the Canadian government
that could be at risk for Americans to lose? Do we have a number
like that?
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Mr. Steve Verheul: I'll turn to one of my colleagues to see if he
has a number offhand, but I would say that our procurement system
is quite different from that of the U.S. We have an open procure‐
ment system. We don't have a lot of restrictions because we've been
looking more for value for money. We have provided, in particular,
clear procurement opportunities to the European Union under
CETA, for example, and that is at a greater level than what the U.S.
has in our market.

We do have different treatments, but by and large our procure‐
ment market is open. The U.S., as our closest neighbour and mar‐
ket, does participate in those markets on an ongoing basis.

I don't know, Doug, whether you have anything you want to add
to that.
● (1615)

Mr. Doug Forsyth (Director General, Market Access, Depart‐
ment of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development): No I don't,
Steve. The only thing I would say to add to that is that, as you not‐
ed, the procurement market is a little bit opaque in terms of exact
numbers—what we have at the federal, provincial and municipal
levels—so we'd have to dig around a bit to see exactly what kind of
information we have that we could provide to the committee.

Mr. Randeep Sarai: I would like that. If you could provide that
to the committee that would be very informative. I think it would
be good for the Americans to know what could be potentially at
risk for them if they put protectionist measures such as buy Ameri‐
ca in the U.S., which would prohibit Canadian goods. Regarding
the reciprocal treatment, if we had to choose that—not saying we
would—they would know which of their industries and how many
of their industries would be affected. Hopefully, it never reaches
that level. We all know that.

My second question is along those lines. You recently just rene‐
gotiated CUSMA, NAFTA 3.0 if you want to call it that. What pro‐
visions do you think CUSMA has to protect our bilateral trade with
the U.S. and any restrictions the Biden government might impose
with buy America? Do you think CUSMA protects us in that re‐
gard, even though that may be a route that may be longer to pro‐
ceed with? Does it protect us?

Mr. Steve Verheul: When we did the negotiations on the gov‐
ernment procurement issues with the U.S. and the new NAFTA, the
U.S. was making us very unattractive offers for how we could con‐
clude an agreement on market access under government procure‐
ment. We do have some rules under government procurement, but
most of what we have in terms of protection in that area is through
the WTO agreement on government procurement. Through that, we
do have [Technical difficulty—Editor] and we do have good access
to any kind of federal-level U.S. procurement through the WTO.

Under CUSMA, we have much more limited avenues we could
pursue on the procurement side. It's more at the WTO that we
would pursue those.

Mr. Randeep Sarai: In your talks with your counterparts in the
U.S., do you see this buy American as a provision more to protect
against global imports off the continental imports or is it intended
purely for American only and to exclude Canadian interests? In
other words, are we kind of victim to a government agenda or gov‐

ernment policy to protect the flooding of products coming, say,
from China, Asia or other parts?

Mr. Steve Verheul: We have no indication from the U.S. side
that we are the target at all. I think the target is overseas. I think
there is a considerable degree of concern about China and some
other countries outside North America that are exporting to the U.S.

As I said earlier on, the U.S. has made it very clear that it wants
to enter into discussions with us on trying to avoid any kind of neg‐
ative implications on our integrated economy between Canada and
the U.S. because that serves both of us. I think that the U.S. recog‐
nizes the damages it could incur in its own market if it were to in‐
troduce artificial barriers that would disrupt that integrated econo‐
my.

Mr. Randeep Sarai: Quickly on softwood lumber, do you think
trade commissioner services might be able to assist our current
forestry sector to diversify in markets outside the U.S. even though
it is enjoying a healthy price and therefore decent margins despite
the tariffs? Can more be done so that the lumber industry is not sus‐
ceptible to only one buyer, the U.S.?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Absolutely. We're putting quite a bit of effort
into doing exactly that, diversifying our market. We have opportu‐
nities into the European Union. We have opportunities into Japan
and many other countries around the world. I think it certainly
serves us well to start to diversify our market, when it comes to
softwood lumber, away from the U.S., to some degree at least, be‐
cause we've had this long experience of having difficulties with the
U.S. in this market.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Sarai.

● (1620)

[Translation]

Mr. Savard-Tremblay, you have six minutes.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you.

Mr. Verheul, as we know, the Fixing America's Surface Trans‐
portation Act, or the FAST Act, which governs U.S. government
spending on transportation, expires in September. Do you think it
will be renewed?

If it isn't, will another similar bill be introduced?

I'm going to ask the counter question right now: if there is a re‐
newal of the law or a new bill, are the Buy America provisions or
the Buy American Act likely to apply to this issue?

[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: I would be surprised if buy America and buy
American were caught up in a lot of those kinds of discussions. I
think that the U.S. has made it clear that it wants to continue to pur‐
sue those policies of buy America and buy American and will make
every effort to protect those.
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I think that what we can do most effectively on our side is con‐
tinue and enhance our discussions with the U.S. about how Canada
could be treated within those kinds of policies, rather than through
any more formal kind of negotiation or arrangement.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: In other words, you don't
think it should apply.

I asked the minister a question earlier about the U.S. govern‐
ment's infrastructure plan. I'd also like to ask you if any steps have
been taken to have Canada exempted from this plan.

I would remind you that President Biden said yesterday that the
first $2 trillion would be used entirely for American companies and
American products, so that American workers would benefit.

Is Canada working to obtain exemptions in this regard?
[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, what we saw in the infrastructure plan
announced yesterday by the Biden administration was that there are
no real details about how they would factor in buy America. It cer‐
tainly reaffirmed that they would intend to have the buy America
approach apply, but there are no details, no specifics associated
with that, so that gives us a window to continue our efforts with the
U.S. to emphasize that, if we work together on this, if we continue
with our integrated economy, then we can actually provide benefits
to the U.S.

There are fewer efficiencies that are going to be put at threat if
we maintain the integrated economy. We can help them with their
environmental objectives by the kinds of products we produce, so
there is a lot of value to continuing to allow us to participate in
those kinds of programs.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Still on the subject of this
plan, I'd like to ask you the question that I put to the minister earlier
and that she didn't really answer, unfortunately.

Will there be new requirements for American content? Can this
be considered? Will it be iron, steel or aluminum, for example, or
will there simply be no new requirements?
[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: The U.S. has made it clear, or at least Presi‐
dent Biden has made it clear, that they are looking at potentially ex‐
panding the coverage of buy America in this infrastructure package.
As of now, there are no details, as I said, in the package announced
yesterday. This is going to have to go through the congressional
process so it may change in many different ways. Eventually they
will have to specify what the requirements would be, but we do an‐
ticipate that we're going to have to make the argument that further
products that could be considered should still allow for Canadian
participation in those types of supply.
● (1625)

[Translation]
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: I'll ask you another ques‐

tion I asked the minister earlier.

Is there an ongoing discussion with the provinces as part of the
strategy planning?

[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, provinces and territories are being
closely consulted as this goes along. We have had regular calls with
them already. Clearly, they have a very large stake in all of this, so
we will be involving them very closely at every stage of this pro‐
cess.

[Translation]

The Chair: You have 15 seconds left.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Are they currently being
consulted or will they be?

[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: They are now being consulted. We have al‐
ready talked to them about these issues and have set up a mecha‐
nism to continue talking to them throughout this process.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savard-Tremblay.

[English]

Mr. Cannings, you have six minutes, please.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

Under the previous American president, during that time, there
was a lot of concern in Canada from industries and manufacturers
that were energy-intensive and trade-exposed about facing competi‐
tion in the United States from companies that didn't have to factor
in things like carbon pricing. I and others suggested that we perhaps
should have considered border adjustments to try to level the play‐
ing field there. Now we have President Biden talking about levying
border adjustments similar to that.

I'm just wondering what the present situation is between Canada
and the United States, or what Canada is considering along the lines
of possible border adjustments to try to level the playing field with
countries that don't have the climate action that our government is
putting forward, the carbon pricing that our companies are facing,
so that we can fight climate change and remain competitive on the
world stage.

Mr. Steve Verheul: We are doing a lot of work on that front.
We're doing a lot of analysis, along with other departments, on car‐
bon border adjustment, trying to figure out exactly how that might
work and what its implications could be. The European Union is al‐
so well advanced in looking at carbon border adjustments.
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I think the challenge we have is that while we've indicated to the
U.S. that we have an interest in this issue, and they have responded
by saying they want to engage with us to discuss this further, they
are further behind than we are and the European Union in looking
at this issue. They're also in a different place when it comes to what
they've done domestically with respect to carbon pricing. There‐
fore, I don't think that we'll see a definitive view from the U.S. for a
little while until they get their internal thinking sorted out, but we
are very much eager to work with them in exploring these issues,
along with others.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Are you considering it with regards to
trade with other countries?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Absolutely, yes.
Mr. Richard Cannings: Okay, I'll move to an entirely different

topic. As I was saying before, my riding has five different border
crossings, and one relatively small but very hard-hit sector during
the pandemic from the border closures has been the duty-free
stores. These stores relied entirely on traffic across the border, and
that traffic has essentially stopped. I think the duty-free store near‐
est me in Osoyoos has suffered a 99% drop in trade.

The duty-free stores were asking for some sector-specific sup‐
ports and I'm just wondering if the government had considered that,
and what it might be able to provide.

Mr. Steve Verheul: I'm afraid I'm not in a position to give you
any kind of clear response on that. I'm not involved in those partic‐
ular discussions about potential assistance because of the border
closure. I apologize for that, but that's not my responsibility.

Mr. Richard Cannings: I don't know if anybody else [Technical
difficulty—Editor].

There's another issue that many of my constituents, especially
businesses, are facing. Because we're so close to the border, many
businesses have U.S. Postal Service boxes—any number of them in
my riding—where they order American goods to be sent so they
can make their products, but these people have had no access to the
postal boxes for a year now and are facing orders from the U.S.
Postal Service that it's going to destroy the products.

Is there any relief for these people who can't go across the border
just a kilometre or two or three or four to pick up these materials so
that they're not entirely wasted? As I say, they've been waiting a
year now for this.
● (1630)

Mr. Steve Verheul: I think certainly the whole arrangement that
we have with respect to the restrictions that have been placed on
movement back and forth across the border between Canada and
the U.S. is under continual review. We are certainly aware that we
have extended that restriction on a regular basis, but again, I'm
afraid the issue you describe is not something that I deal with di‐
rectly myself. I can certainly get in contact with others who are
more engaged in that and see if we can get you an answer.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Could you comment very briefly on the
question I asked Minister Ng about the forest products that we are
shipping to the United States, the building materials, that aren't fac‐
ing softwood lumber tariffs, things like engineered wood and mass
timber.

How do they rank in these buy America restrictions?
Mr. Steve Verheul: Again, at this point, the U.S. has simply not

indicated what exactly they're going to apply in terms of Buy
America restrictions when they get to that. We do see the potential
for timber of various types to be potentially captured by the new re‐
quirements, but at this point we do not know and the U.S. has not
specified how broadly they're going to apply these requirements.
That's something we'll be watching very closely.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cannings.

We'll now move to our second round of questions and to Ms.
Alleslev, for five minutes, please.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses.

We know that the buy America provisions include iron, steel and
manufactured goods. Do we have a comprehensive list of all the
items that are subject to or included in buy America?

Mr. Steve Verheul: We don't at this point. We know, as you say,
that traditionally buy America approaches have included iron, steel
and manufactured products. We have heard some suggestions that
this could be expanded to cover construction materials such as ce‐
ment, aggregate, asphalt and potentially other products. Again,
though, the package that was announced yesterday has none of
these specifics, so we're going to have to wait to see how this
evolves as it starts to move through Congress to determine what
kind of coverage the U.S. may be considering.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: In the past, would we have had a list?
Mr. Steve Verheul: We probably would not at this stage, be‐

cause although this is a plan that has been announced by President
Biden, it has to go through the legislative process in the U.S. We
anticipate that many changes will be made, but particularly with re‐
spect to the buy America provisions, there is very little in what was
announced yesterday. It does not provide specifics, so we're going
to have to wait and see how that comes out.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Are you working on a tentative list and
therefore the dollar value impact of that tentative list, so at least we
can get some idea of just what the size and scope of this challenge
might be?

Mr. Steve Verheul: At this point we're not looking at assigning
specific values. We are talking to all the industry representatives
that are associated both with what has been covered in the past as
well as what could be potentially covered in the future. We are
seeking information from private sector representatives, companies
and organizations to make sure we have a clear handle on what the
potential concern could be, so that we are well positioned for that.

● (1635)

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Canadians need to plan. Businesses need to
plan, so we kind of have to have an idea, and I'm sure, to negotiate,
you need to have some kind of rough order of magnitude of just
what the size and scope is.

Would you be able to share that rough order of magnitude with
Canadians?
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Mr. Steve Verheul: I'm afraid we simply don't have that yet. As
I mentioned, we have too many unknown variables right now. We
don't know how extensive the U.S. coverage will be. We've started
talking, and have been for a while, to the relevant potentially affect‐
ed sectors in Canada. We're getting information coming in from
them. We're also working with other departments, so we're fully en‐
gaged on this, but at this point I'm afraid it's premature to give you
any kind of number.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Even for the ones we've already defined—
iron, steel and some of the manufacturing goods you listed—when
do you think you might have a rough order of magnitude of the dol‐
lar value?

Mr. Steve Verheul: That is hard to predict, because although we
have the President's plan, this is now going to move through the
congressional process. It's going to be changing quite significantly
through that process—

Ms. Leona Alleslev: It's not really subject to the plan though.
We know how much iron was sold to Americans in the past for
these types of infrastructure projects, do we not? Therefore we
could extrapolate based on a.... We're not talking exact, but we're
talking a ballpark here. We know the categories and we know what
has been procured in the past, so is that not enough information to
start looking at a rough order of magnitude?

Mr. Steve Verheul: It's certainly enough to start looking. We
have never seen a U.S. infrastructure package of this magnitude in
the past, so that's one consideration that's going to be a complica‐
tion.

We don't know exactly what it is going to be applied to. We have
an outline with the plan announced yesterday, but that will change
over time. The nature of the projects involved, the extent to which
there may be buy America restrictions.... These are all, unfortunate‐
ly, still unknowns at this point. We are still trying to gather as much
information as broadly as we can, so that we're prepared to address
whatever scale the end result might be.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Alleslev.

Now for the next five minutes, Ms. Bendayan, please.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to

all of our witnesses.

It's a pleasure to see you, as always, Mr. Verheul.

To pick up on this important point that Ms. Alleslev raised, I
must say that I'm a bit perplexed by even the question. Yesterday,
what was announced was a $2-trillion plan by President Biden, but
we still have no bill. There's still no list of projects and so there is
still nothing to quantify.

Would you agree with that, Mr. Verheul?
Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, absolutely. Moreover, it's not only that

we don't know a lot of the quantification of all of that, but also that
we fully expect that what was announced yesterday will change be‐
cause of the legislative process in the U.S. Then, when it comes to
the buy American provisions in particular, there was no specificity
in the announcement yesterday. We will have to wait to see exactly
what they intend to do.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: If we look at recent history on buy
American.... For example, when we looked at the experience under
the American recovery act that was passed in February 2009, I be‐
lieve that Canada's agreement with the United States for limited ex‐
emptions at the time from buy American under that act came into
force one year later in February 2010. An entire year passed from
the moment the bill came into effect to the time we received our ex‐
emptions.

Is there anything you'd like to comment on about our experience
in that regard and what we might look toward in this particular in‐
stance?

● (1640)

Mr. Steve Verheul: I think, in light of the experience we had
during that infrastructure package, we should be very clear that our
window is quite small. We need to get in very early. We need to lay
the groundwork and start having those discussions with the U.S and
start ensuring that Canadian interests are protected right from the
beginning.

The difficulty, as you mentioned, with that previous case was
that by the time we had an agreement negotiated, a significant pro‐
portion of the funds had already been spent and we missed out on
that. We don't want to have that happen again.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you. That's very helpful.

Just to clarify a point made earlier by Mr. Strahl, he made an
analogy between the United States' position on buy American and
its position on Keystone XL, stating that Keystone and buy Ameri‐
can were campaign commitments. I was just on the Biden cam‐
paign website to be sure and there was no specific campaign com‐
mitment to buy American like there was for Keystone XL. I wonder
if you see these two situations as quite different.

Mr. Steve Verheul: I do see them as quite different mainly be‐
cause, while I think the Biden administration has come out early
and said they were supporters of buy American, and making jobs in
America and providing significant help to economic recovery, there
are really no concrete specifics associated with that. So, unlike the
Keystone situation, which was a very specific issue and the mes‐
sage was very specific, here, yes, they would like to pursue policies
that are going to pay for Americans, as any country would, but all
of the details behind that are still to be developed. That's where our
opportunity lies, to be able to talk to the U.S., which has indicated a
willingness to talk to us about this, about how we can design this in
a way that would benefit both of us and not come at our expense.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, with your permission, do I
have time for one more question?

The Chair: You have one minute.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Perhaps, Mr. Verheul, we can just touch

on the order of magnitude of this plan that President Biden an‐
nounced yesterday. We are talking about a $2-trillion infrastructure
plan. In your view, in dealing with the United States, do you feel
that it would even be necessary for the United States to reach out to
other countries such as Canada for raw materials and other re‐
sources to fulfill something as large as a $2-trillion infrastructure
plan?
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Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, I would say, given the scale of this ini‐
tiative, the U.S. will have difficulty in a number of sectors in fulfill‐
ing the requirements within the U.S. It would be impossible. There‐
fore, I think that not only do we have the advantage of being right
next door and sharing a lot of values that the U.S. is looking to pur‐
sue in this infrastructure package, particularly when it comes to cli‐
mate change and environment, but also that many of our products
can help the U.S. meet its environmental goals, because our alu‐
minum, our steel and many other products are produced in a much
more environmentally friendly way than they are in the U.S. That
gives us an advantage. The fact that the U.S. won't have sufficient
availability of some of these products domestically also gives us
that advantage.

We need to get all of these messages into the U.S. early and often
to ensure that we will be part of these projects, and not sitting out‐
side watching.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Bendayan.

[Translation]

Mr. Savard-Tremblay, you have two and a half minutes.
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Verheul, you often tell us, and rightly so, of course, that you
can't comment on a number of things right off the bat because these
laws have to be passed, refined, worked on and studied by the vari‐
ous chambers in the United States, of course. That said, you say
that you're already active in discussions with the provinces and the
industry. I imagine that's the case with discussions with U.S. gov‐
ernment officials as well.

You may also be asked what your mandate is, however, what is
your objective in this regard?

What would be a win for Canada for you, should there be discus‐
sions with the U.S.?
● (1645)

[English]
Mr. Steve Verheul: With respect to this infrastructure project, I

would say that what we're really looking to achieve is Canadian
products being treated the same as U.S. products under this at the
end of the day. If we preserve our integrated market, the supply
chains that we have established, it will be a better result for the U.S.
as well as us.

It would mean that the U.S. could be more efficient and more en‐
vironmentally friendly. It would not have the kinds of difficulties
that would be created from a competitiveness standpoint, if they
were to carve us out. It's really a matter of getting Canada included
in all of the elements of the infrastructure package as that integrated
market.

[Translation]
Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Ultimately, then, there

would be no discrimination between Canadian and U.S. capital, in‐
vestors, and products. If I understand correctly, that would be the
ideal objective for you. I guess you're setting the bar there, but we
may come to a solution and a compromise between the two.

Realistically, do you think this objective can be achieved, or do
you think we'll come in somewhat below the ideal instead?

[English]

Mr. Steve Verheul: In contrast to some of the past discussions
we've had with the U.S. on these issues, they have acknowledged
that what they are trying to do could cause disruptions in supply
chains, and they've indicated that they want to avoid these kinds of
outcomes. We've had direct conversations with them at virtually all
levels, and they've indicated an openness to talking to us about
coming up with results that would not cause disruptions in that inte‐
grated market, those integrated supply chains.

At the end of the day, I think it's recognized that it would not on‐
ly serve us better but also serve the U.S. better if they don't impose
artificial barriers. If they don't, it would lead to a better result eco‐
nomically and environmentally for them. I think it would serve
both of us very well if we continued with the kind of integrated
market that we have established over a long period of time.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Savard-Tremblay.

[English]

Mr. Cannings, you have two and a half minutes.

Mr. Richard Cannings: Thank you.

My apologies in advance if this is a fairly specific question, but
it's of great importance to my riding. I mentioned wine before, but
the other big product that has really affected the local economy here
for more than a century is tree fruits—apples, cherries, apricots,
peaches, etc.

Over the past few decades, British Columbia's fruit production,
concentrated in my riding and the rest of the Okanagan Valley, has
really been hit by increasing American production. We happen to
live across the border from the biggest producers of tree fruits in
the world in Washington state, and the real increase in Washington
state's production has come because of water from the Columbia
River, specifically the irrigation projects driven by the building of
the Grand Coulee Dam back in the 1930s, aided by the Columbia
River treaty in the 1960s, which guaranteed certain amounts of wa‐
ter to the United States.

Now we are renegotiating that treaty, the Columbia River treaty.
It expires in 2024, and I'm wondering if there's anyone here who
can comment on the Canadian proposals that would limit any ac‐
cess to specific quantities of water for American agriculture. Right
now in the present treaty, that is not included, and the local fruit
growers are concerned that they will lose even more in a renegotiat‐
ed treaty.

Also, what access do they have to redress if, as they felt last year,
American products are being dumped north across the border and
they just can't compete at 12 cents a pound for apples, for instance?
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● (1650)

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, there are certain remedies that we do
have available if product is being dumped from the U.S. into our
markets, but with respect to some of the issues around the
Columbia River treaty, I might ask Eric Walsh who is here as an‐
other witness if he has anything he can add on that particular issue.
I'm not as familiar with it.

The Chair: Make it a short answer, Mr. Walsh.
Mr. Eric Walsh (Director General, North America Bureau,

Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development): Just
as a note, Mr. Cannings, the negotiations are indeed under way. We
have exchanged initial proposals with the United States, but we
haven't yet engaged with the new administration on this file, so
we're still waiting to see what their proposals might be.

It is something that we're working on very closely with the af‐
fected communities in British Columbia as well, and they are al‐
ways on our minds as we move forward with this.

The Chair: Thank you.

We now go to Mr. Lewis for five minutes, please.
Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you very

much to the witnesses. It's good to see you again, Mr. Verheul.

I've been talking an awful lot about the border issue, but I'm go‐
ing to switch gears here a little bit because one of the last things
you said, sir, was with regard to the supply chain and how integrat‐
ed our borders are. I'll be bold here and say that nobody under‐
stands that more than me, because the Windsor Chrysler assembly
plant has now been shut down for a month. I've got thousands of
workers sitting at home twiddling their thumbs because we can't get
sensors to put on our vehicles. I very much understand when you
speak specifically about the integration of Canada and the U.S.—
I'm right there with you.

Even more than that, I would even say this. Today is April Fools'
Day, and unfortunately it's not an April Fools' joke that the carbon
tax has been increased again. I would suggest that our businesses
are once again less competitive with both the U.S. and Mexico.

Sir, we keep hearing about integrated markets and integrated
supply chains. Is the government tracking the number of jobs and
the value of the GDP we're losing because of the government's in‐
ability to negotiate essential workers being able to safely cross the
border?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Unfortunately, I'm not directly involved in
that aspect of the work, so I don't know the extent to which that
kind of analysis might be going on. As I did mention earlier, there's
a continual examination going on about what we should be consid‐
ering as essential workers and essential travel back and forth across
the border, because we do have restrictions on the most significant
commercial border in the world. That's a complex process that is
continually being re-examined.

I apologize that I don't have any more specific details I can offer
you.

Mr. Chris Lewis: That's okay. No apology is needed. Thank you
very much.

I can tell you that this is a very significant issue, and the problem
is only going to get worse. It's becoming very much exacerbated
not only in my riding but right across Canada, as we continue to
lose, hemorrhage jobs, manufacturing jobs—very good and highly
paid jobs—with businesses losing contracts hand over fist because
they cannot secure contracts due to the border issue.

I'm wondering, sir, have you had any communication with your
U.S. colleagues about how we can move forward with this? Has
there been any discussion at all?

Mr. Steve Verheul: I do know that there has been a considerable
amount of discussion on this. I have not been directly engaged in
that myself, but we have a been hearing from the U.S. side many
representations making very similar expressions of concern that op‐
erations on the U.S. side are struggling because of the restrictions
we have in place.

Obviously none of us would want to have these restrictions in
place, but obviously because of COVID some of this has become
necessary. It's a question of how we can ensure that this is going to
cause the least possible disruption to business activity going back
and forth across the border, but that's a very complex issue to try to
get exactly right, which is why—

● (1655)

Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you, Mr. Verheul.

Chair, how much time do I have left, please?

The Chair: You have one minute.

Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you.

I guess I'm going to simplify it this much. For our commercial
truck drivers—and thank you very much to them for keeping com‐
merce flowing back and forth across our borders—it's about this
simple. If there's no commerce to go back and forth across the bor‐
der, be it manufacturing parts and sensors so that Windsor's
Chrysler automotive assembly plant doesn't have to get shut down,
if there's none of that commerce, I suppose this is a non-starter, a
dead issue. However, this is not a dead issue. This is about the
economy.

What exactly is happening? What's being done, perhaps behind
the scenes, to ensure that we have the flow of the people and to en‐
sure we have the manufacturing that continues to drive our econo‐
my?

The Chair: We'll have a short answer, Mr. Verheul.

Mr. Steve Verheul: Well, again, it's not something that I'm di‐
rectly involved in or responsible for, I'm afraid, but I certainly un‐
derstand the concern you're expressing.

Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you.

The Chair: We will now go to Mr. Housefather for five minutes,
please.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Thanks very much, Mr. Chair. I
know you wanted to pop in a question, so I will share my time with
you, sir.
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I also wanted to come back to some of what Mr. Lewis was say‐
ing. I don't see some of this as a border issue. I see some of this as a
global supply issue, where there are shortages in components
worldwide, including, for example, in semiconductors. It's not a
question of the border being closed. It's a question of a worldwide
supply shortage during COVID.

I'd like to turn it around, Mr. Verheul. You have a lot more expe‐
rience in this area than I do, and I want to go back and get into your
knowledge of history here. I would actually see the $2-trillion
American expenditure on infrastructure as an opportunity, as op‐
posed to a liability. Could you see it also that way, sir?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes, absolutely.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: A lot of what we're talking about

potentially losing, we never really had in terms of ability to get into
the U.S. market, because the U.S. wasn't spending these huge
amounts of money on infrastructure, correct? This is one of the
biggest spends in the last 10 years. Would that be correct?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Yes. We have had infrastructure packages in
the past, but this is certainly of a far different scale.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: We should be looking at how Cana‐
dians can get in there and compete with Americans for these oppor‐
tunities and figure out how to lobby Congress to make sure that
when legislation is actually adopted, Canada is given whatever
wide exemptions are possible under the law. We should not wait
until a year after the law is adopted. Based on what you explained
to us before, we should do so because otherwise expenditures will
already have been made, in large part, under the bill. Is that essen‐
tially correct, sir?

Mr. Steve Verheul: We do want to get in early, which is why
we're working closely with the U.S. administration now. We're
working closely with the U.S. Congress, U.S. business allies, U.S.
union allies and, across the board, different levels of government.
Now is the time for us to be doing a full-court press on this.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Mr. Verheul, if our committee is go‐
ing to be part of the full-court press—and the minister invited our
committee to help in the team Canada approach—what U.S. con‐
gressional committees should our chair approach in order for us to
speak directly to our U.S. counterparts? Would it be, for example,
the transport committee? Would it be the infrastructure committee?
Or would it be the appropriations committee?

Mr. Steve Verheul: Well, this bill, as we see it now—I mean, it's
not yet a bill—once it does enter the U.S. Congress, we do expect
that this is going to be assigned to a fairly wide range of different
committees within the U.S. Congress, both in the House and on the
Senate side. We can certainly keep you informed about how that
structure will unfold, because I think we'll be wanting to talk to a
number of different committees and a number of different represen‐
tatives.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: As it is a spending bill, it would
first be introduced in the House, correct?

Mr. Steve Verheul: That's right.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: Perfect.

Mr. Chair, I know that I have only a couple of minutes left. I'm
turning it over to you now.

The Chair: Thank you very much, and again, thank you to the
officials for being here.

Mr. Verheul, I have a two-part question.

If you could, please highlight the impact of buy America. I know
that we will be impacted, to whatever extent, and as for internation‐
ally, I have a feeling that our international allies and trade partners
will also be impacted, I believe. Have there been any discussions or
can you provide any commentary on how they are approaching this
situation?

● (1700)

Mr. Steve Verheul: Well, I think there's certainly wide concern,
because if the U.S. does proceed as it's planning, with a $2-trillion
infrastructure package, that's a lot of economic opportunity. I think
it's recognized that Canada is potentially affected by this more than
most others because of our economic relationship with the U.S.
Mexico is certainly concerned about this. The European Union and
others are also concerned about this.

But I think what many countries are very clear about is that the
U.S. is within its international rights to pursue this kind of ap‐
proach, which is why our emphasis is on the relationships we have
with the administration, with Congress and with our allies in the
U.S. and to convince them that they're better off if Canada is part of
this picture. They're better off economically, from a perspective of
competitiveness and from an environmental perspective. They're
far better off if Canadian inputs are treated as U.S. inputs would be
treated under this bill.

The Chair: To reiterate Mr. Housefather's point, I hope you will
keep us in the loop as the bill makes its way through Congress as to
what committees we should be engaging with or just for us to know
where the file is at.

That brings our afternoon to a close. I want to thank all the mem‐
bers for their time today, and especially the officials. It's a Thursday
before a long weekend, so I'm sure you want to get back to be with
your families. Thank you very much for again enlightening us and
giving us some sort of framework of what we should be looking at
going forward.

I wish everybody a happy Easter. I'll see you next week.
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